
BELLINGHAM PUBLIC LIBRARY NOTICE OF MEETING 

BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING 

 of TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 17, 2024, 3:30 p.m. 

 
Publication of the agenda and the approximate times are a guide to, and not a limitation on, the activities 

of Trustees. Order of agenda items may be adjusted. 

 

 

Central Library, 210 Central Avenue, Bellingham, Washington 

Lecture Room – 3:30 p.m. 

 

AGENDA           TIME (approx.)  
 

We acknowledge that we gather on territory that has been the traditional and ancestral 

homeland to the Lhaq’temish (the Lummi People), the Nooksack People, and other Coast 

Salish tribes of this region Since Time Immemorial.  

  

We honor our shared responsibility to this land and these waters, we commit to learning 

from Indigenous wisdom, and we strive to repair and deepen our relationships as 

neighbors and friends. 

1. Call to order and introductions         1 min 

        

2. Approve/modify agenda              1 min 

 

3. Public comment          3 min 

This time is set aside for members of the public to make comments. 

Remarks will be limited to three minutes.  

 

4. Consent agenda (see packet materials)          2 min 

All matters listed on the consent agenda are considered routine  

and may be approved in a single motion.  A trustee may ask that  

an item be removed from the consent agenda and considered  

separately. 

• Communications and FYI 

• Minutes: August 20, 2024: Regular Board Meeting 

• Library performance & activity measures: August 2024 

• Financial reports 

Claims: August 2024 

YTD report: August 2024 

 

5. Reports              8 min 

• Board Chair  

• Library Board members 

• City Council liaison 

• Friends of Bellingham Public Library 

• Library Director (see packet materials) 

          Time check:    3:45 

  

      

1 



 

6. "Sensored: One Library's Experience Navigating the Drug Epidemic”: Highlights  30 min  

of upcoming conference presentation   

• Alison Kuiken, Supervisor of Operations & Michelle Becker, Supervisor of Public Services 

 

Time check:   4:15 

 

7. Planned Giving program update       30 min 

• Rick Osen, Board Chair & Rachel Myers, RM+Co 

 

8. Budget update          10 min 

• Rick Osen, Board Chair & Rebecca Judd, Director 

Time check:   4:55 

 

9. New business            3 min 

 

10. Agenda items for next meeting             2 min 

 

          Time check: 5:00 

11. Adjourn 

 

 

Accessibility: 

The Bellingham Public Library Lecture Room is ADA accessible. Elevator access to the lower floor is 

available at the Central Avenue entrance. If you require a sign interpreter or other accommodation, 

please allow the library 48 hours’ notice. For additional accommodation, contact the Administrative 

Assistant at 360-778-7220 in advance of the meeting.  

  

Next Regular Library Board Meeting:  Tuesday, October 22, 2024 – 3:30 p.m. 

Location: Board Room, Central Library, 210 Central Avenue 

Bellingham, Washington 

 

2 



Libraries are the Cornerstones of Our Communities — And They Need Our Help 

Public libraries promote literacy, fight poverty, and enrich our lives. It’s up to us to 
protect them from political attacks. 

By GEORGIA JENSEN 

 
From attending summer science demonstrations as a kid to volunteering as a high school student, 
the library has always been an important presence for me. 

When I was seven and my dad lost his job, my parents leaned on our community to help raise my 
sister and me. We got hand-me-downs from friends and food vouchers from our church — and the 
library became an even more central part of my life. 

At least once a week, my dad would take us to the library, where my sister could get help on her 
homework, I could explore the children’s books, and my dad could look for jobs. As it’s done for so 
many others, our local library stepped up to take care of us. 

Unfortunately, libraries are under political attack across much of the country. 

Obsessed with “culture wars,” conservative politicians have been taking drastic measures to stop 
the distribution of what they call “age-inappropriate books” — which are often children’s books by 
and about LGBTQ+ individuals or people of color. 

Last year Missouri enacted a rule defunding libraries that carry such content. And in order to 
comply with a restrictive new library law in Idaho, some libraries have actually banned children and 
forced patrons under 30 to present an ID to enter. 

All told, 17 GOP-led states are considering bills that would threaten librarians with prison time for 
lending books that lawmakers deem “obscene” or “harmful” to minors. And even in New York City, it 
took a massive public outcry to reverse Democratic Mayor Eric Adams’ devastating cuts to the 
library system. 

When politicians target libraries, communities lose. Public libraries promote equality by 
championing free and open access to information. They not only allow individuals to access books 
but also movies, music, and the internet. 

A 2019 Gallup poll found that adults in low-income households visit their local libraries more than 
any other income group, which can help boost reading and literacy. By age 17, low-income students 
tend to lag behind their peers in reading by as much as four years, a disparity fueled by having less 
access to reading material — especially during the summer, when schools close. That’s why nearly 
all public libraries o�er summer reading programs. 

Libraries recognize and meet the needs of their patrons. In San Francisco, where homelessness is 
an ongoing crisis, the local library became one of the first in the country to hire an in-house social 
worker to provide expert help for its unhoused library users. 

While legislation and programs aimed at fighting poverty remain stuck in Congress, libraries across 
the country already o�er a variety of services to help society’s most vulnerable. 

3 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda
Communications



As of 2019, 75% of public libraries o�ered career services ranging from assistance with writing 
resumes and cover letters to technology training. Many also o�er English as a Second Language 
(ESL), General Education Development (GED), and citizenship classes. 

Hundreds of libraries partner with the USDA every summer to serve free meals to kids in low-
income communities. And they serve as refuges during heatwaves, partnering with local 
governments to welcome those who need a reprieve from the scorching temperatures. 

Libraries ensure that both children and adults get the help they need to succeed in life. To continue, 
they need our help. We need to support our local libraries by donating or volunteering where we 
can. 

We can also pressure our lawmakers not to cut funding. Congress is currently working on the 
budget for the federal budget for 2025. The American Library Association has an advocacy email list 
that makes it easy to let your members of Congress know that funding libraries should be a national 
priority. You can do the same thing at the state and local levels. 

Public libraries make up a foundational part of our communities. It’s up to us to help keep them that 
way. 

Georgia Jensen is a Henry Wallace Fellow at the Institute for Policy Studies. This op-ed was adapted 
from a longer version at Inequality.org and distributed for syndication by OtherWords.org. 

From The Progressive Populist, August 15, 2024 

 

4 



  

 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
1011 Plum Street SE  PO Box 42525  Olympia, Washington 98504-2525  360-725-4000 

www.commerce.wa.gov 

 
September 6, 2024 
 
Rebecca Judd 
Library Director 
Bellingham Public Library 
210 Central Ave 
Bellingham, WA 98225 
 
Greetings Rebecca, 
 
Thank you for submitting an application for the Library Capital Improvement Program (LCIP) for the 
Central Library Interior Renovation project. I am pleased to inform you that the LCIP Committee has 
reviewed your application and recommended funding in the amount of $2,000,000. The Committee’s 
review and recommendation is the initial step in the state’s capital budgeting process. The next steps 
are as follows: 
 

 The Department of Commerce submits the recommended list of projects to the Governor in our 

2025-2027 Capital Budget request; 

 The Governor’s Office of Financial Management will review the list and may incorporate 

selected projects into the Governor’s 2025-2027 Proposed Capital Budget; 

 The Governor’s budget should be released in December 2024;  

 The 2025-2027 Capital Budget will be considered by the Legislature and signed into law in late 

spring or early summer 2025.  

 We will notify you in writing when final action has been taken. We estimate that any funds 

appropriated for this program will become available in fall, 2025. 

It is important to recognize that the LCIP Committee’s recommendation offers no guarantee that your 
project will be funded.   
 
If you have any questions or need any additional information, please contact Mike Kendall 360-764-3326 
or Mike.Kendall@commerce.wa.gov.  
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Addeline Craig, Assistant Director 
Community Capital Facilities

5 

mailto:Mike.Kendall@commerce.wa.gov
wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda
Communications



STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
1011 Plum Street SE  PO Box 42525  Olympia, Washington 98504-2525  360-725-4000 

www.commerce.wa.gov 

Washington State Department of Commerce 
Community Capital Facilities 
Library Capital Improvement Program 

2025-2027 Library Capital Improvement Program Recommended List 

Project Title Organization Name / Applicant 
Recommended 

Award 

Port Townsend Public Library HVAC and Elevator Modernization  City of Port Townsend  
$160,000 

Omak Public Library Renovation North Central Regional Library 
$723,440 

Yakima Central Library Infrastructure Needs for Yakima Valley Libraries Yakima County Regional Library  
$610,500 

Port Angeles Library Accessible Pathways Project North Olympic Library System 
$313,000 

Rosalia Library Donation and Renovation Whitman County Rural Library District 
$75,308 

Yakima Sunnyside Library Infrastructure Needs for Yakima Valley Libraries Yakima County Regional Library  
$50,000 

Aberdeen Library Renovation City of Aberdeen 
$2,000,000 

Orcas Island Library Renovation Orcas Island Library District 
$294,100 

Lopez Island Library Renovation and Resilience Project Lopez Island Library District 
$276,959 

Central Library Interior Renovation Bellingham Public Library 
$2,000,000 

University Branch Library Improvements City of Seattle 
$2,000,000 

Main Library Exterior Envelope Repair Everett Public Library 
$559,500 

Liberty Lake Municipal Library Construction Project City of Liberty Lake 
$937,193 

Total $10,000,000 

*Please keep in mind that the recommendations made here do not guarantee funding.

6 



City progress report: Downtown is trending up, - Cascadia Daily News (WA) - August 29, 2024 - page 1
August 29, 2024 | Cascadia Daily News (WA) | Charlotte Alden | General Assignment/Enterprise Reporter

Editor's note: CDN published an initial story on the report on Aug. 22. This version includes

interviews with officials and more details from the report.

Six months since the City of Bellingham's executive order on fentanyl and the deteriorating

downtown, city officials and the business community are celebrating what feels like movement to

improve the health of the city's center.

In February, Mayor Kim Lund issued an executive order committing to 11 actions, including

establishing a downtown public safety response office, expanding the community paramedic

program and looking into increasing access to methadone and opioid treatments. Cascadia Daily

News spent weeks with the community paramedic program to document the unit's work.

In a report published Thursday, Aug. 22, city officials outlined those completed actions, as well as

metrics to show progress: The city boasted investing over $1 million in downtown services and

amenities this year, removing 28 tons of garbage, 44 graffiti tags and issuing 53 drug citations.

Public works staff also spent 3,000 hours cleaning downtown streets and police conducted 91

"emphasis patrols."

In the first eight months of 2024, police issued eight infractions for sitting and lying, compared to

three issued in the first eight months of 2023, according to Lieutenant Claudia Murphy.

The report says the city has seen progress on overdoses due to these actions: The city received 0.4

overdose calls per day in July, down from 1.1 calls per day in March.

Whatcom County numbers seem to reflect this trend: in March, EMS received 114 calls for

suspected overdoses. Aside from a spike to 156 in May, numbers since have been slightly lower

with 100 in June and 90 in July.

Mayor Kim Lund told CDN that city leaders are cautiously optimistic about the overdose trends, but

they're aware of overdoses that aren't tracked because people are revived and don't call 911.

There's also variability month-to-month. Lund said in May, there were drugs on Bellingham streets

that were more Narcan-resistant.

7 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda
Communications



"We saw the impacts of that, both in requests for overdose support to the EMS, calls for help to 911

and also the number of people that we weren't able to revive," she said. Seventeen people in

Whatcom County likely died by overdose that month, the highest monthly number since March

2023 when 22 people died by overdose.

Lund said the city continues to work on bringing more treatment options to Bellingham, with a

medicated treatment program in the works in partnership with the Swinomish Tribe and the

Whatcom County health department. That program could serve up to 400 people a day, Lund said.

Return of bike unit, murals downtown

Other promises for the future include a return of the police department's downtown bike unit, a

proposed study of downtown economic conditions, a continuation of the "activation and

beautification grant program" to install murals downtown, and renovation of the Central Library

and Lee Memorial Park.

The bike unit hasn't been operating due to police department shortages, and will operate seven

days a week starting in 2025.

Lund said conversations are ongoing about how the new bike unit would work in collaboration with

police foot patrols and security firm Risk Solutions Unlimited (RSU). The bike patrols will likely focus

on public right of ways and alleys, and foot patrols may not continue, Lund said, adding they've

received many requests from the Birchwood neighborhood for foot patrols there.

The study of economic conditions downtown would focus on eliminating vacancies and

encouraging redevelopment of "underutilized buildings."

Lund said vacant buildings have been a block for the city in revitalizing downtown. She said she

hopes a study would allow them to look at what other communities are doing and document "how

much vacant or underutilized space" exists in downtown Bellingham.

Lund connected the city's stagnant revenues to the challenges with downtown. The city is

anticipating an operating deficit of $3.5–4 million this year. The city's sales and B&O (Business and

Occupation) taxes are flat or down, and feed the city's general fund.

"It pays not just for city staff, but it pays for our programs and investments on partners, nonprofit

partners, and other really important programs that the city has made investments in," she said.
8 



Downtown business leaders have expressed excitement about the future actions outlined in the

report.

"Seeing that these resources are being recommitted to address the challenges we've been facing

over the past couple of years is really refreshing," Downtown Bellingham Partnership

Communications Director Jenny Hagemann said.

Executive Director of the partnership Lindsey Payne Johnstone said they've heard from businesses

that staff morale is higher now.

Lund, Hagemann and Johnstone all mentioned Downtown Sounds this summer as an example of

the shift in downtown's energy.

Hagemann said it was a "wild success" with over 3,000 attending at some point each week and beer

garden sales up 30% from last year.

Hagemann said the partnership plans to keep the pressure on the city as the outskirts of downtown

are now starting to experience more challenges.

Crina Hoyer, the CEO of Daylight Properties which manages 21 buildings downtown, said she

appreciated the city team's transparency and willingness to be accountable to their promises with

this report.

She said she's interested in the possibility of pop-ups or incubator spaces in vacant spaces, and

applauded the city's intention to identify long-term strategies to address vacant spaces.

Hoyer told CDN in April that Daylight had reduced its private security in anticipation of the

executive order. She said this week they haven't had to re-up security since.

"I don't think we field nearly as many complaints from tenants about their safety and security than

we had before the executive order," she said.

She recalled an experience a couple months ago of walking across downtown completely through

alleyways, some of them, she said, she hadn't walked through in years.

"That feels like a vivid difference," she said. "I also know that I get to feel safe walking through an

alley, not because we've solved the problem, but because we've moved the problem. Addressing
9 



the long-term systemic issues that led to addiction and homelessness and crime, et cetera, is a

much heavier lift."

Homeless outreach ongoing

In April, the Homeless Outreach Team told CDN that after the executive order, they saw homeless

people more dispersed into more "remote and residential areas," with more calls about people in

abandoned buildings and houses or attempting to set up camp by freeway entrances and exits. It

impacted HOT's "turnaround time" to assist and connect people to resources, Whatcom Homeless

Service Center Director Teri Bryant and HOT Coordinator Marisa Schoeppach said in April.

Schoeppach told CDN this week the team still has challenges reconnecting with people who are told

to move from where they're camped.

However, Schoeppach said her team has worked hard to reconnect and plan ahead with clients,

asking them where they might go if they're asked to move and trying to get them cell phones to

stay in touch.

"But honestly, this team has been just pounding the ground and going for it," she said.

Schoeppach said Lund went on a ride-along with them, which Schoeppach said was useful in giving

the mayor experience "firsthand of what your orders do and how it can create challenges for teams

like mine."

Lund said they lack good metrics to see whether homeless people have really moved out of

downtown or not, but said there appeared to have been a shift.

She said she's requested updates from Opportunity Council leadership, and said she's heard that

the delivery of service to clients is continuing.

The city is hiring a health and human services project manager, which its narrowing down to three

finalists this week, Lund said. That person will expand efforts on behavioral health and

homelessness in the city.

Lund also pointed to Bellingham Municipal Court's efforts to launch a Community Court this winter

to address and reduce low-level crimes like shoplifting.

The city is inviting community input into a new vision for downtown at a Downtown Forward
10 



Celebration on Sept. 19 at the Chuckanut Bay Distillery and is seeking feedback through Engage

Bellingham.

Charlotte Alden is CDN's general assignment/enterprise reporter; reach her at

charlottealden@cascadiadaily.com; 360-922-3090 ext. 123.

CITATION (AGLC STYLE)

Charlotte Alden | General Assignment/Enterprise Reporter, 'City progress report: Downtown is trending up, officials have invested $1M',

Cascadia Daily News (online), 29 Aug 2024 ‹https://infoweb-newsbank-com.bpl-wcls.idm.oclc.org/apps/news/document-view?

p=AWNB&docref=news/19B40E124DCC6110›

© 2024 Cascadia Daily News. All Rights Reserved.

11 



 

Bellingham Central Library Renovations Phase 2 – FACT SHEET 

 

What This Project Includes: Renovations to the Bellingham Central Library’s ground floor children’s area, 

ground floor meeting space, main floor entrance, and upper floor staff areas, while also installing new 

electric heating, ventilation, and cooling (HVAC) throughout the building. 

 

Why: A modern HVAC system is needed to provide climate resiliency by allowing temperature control 

and ventilation throughout the Central Library. The building’s children’s area is currently undersized and 

outdated. The public meeting space needs improvements to allow for new technology and after-hours 

use. Staffing areas need to be redesigned for more efficient use, as well as safety and security. 

  

History of the Facility: The Bellingham Central Library was constructed in 1951 to serve Bellingham’s 

population of 34,000 people. It was remodeled in 1983 for a population of 46,000 people, with an 

expected 25-year life span (ending in 2008). Forty years later, the same building is now serving a 

population of 96,000 people, and receives more than 700,000 visits per year. Heating systems are failing in 

parts of the building and no air conditioning exists in public areas. The library went through a significant 

remodel of the main floor in 2019-2021 which brought this floor up to more modern standards. Phase 2 

continues this work on the ground floor and staff mezzanine to create a more functional library. 

 

Funding Needs: 

Initial estimates have placed the current cost for renovating the Central Library at $12 million. The City of 

Bellingham has committed $6.5 million and the Bellingham Public Library Board of Trustees have 

committed $1 million in private funding. The Library has also applied for a $2 million grant through the 

State of Washington. An additional $2.5 million in private funding will ensure that the Children’s 

Services portion of this project is completed. Funding at this time is also critical for reducing service 

disruptions to our community, as all the work would be done concurrently, while the building is closed. 

 

What opportunities does this renovation offer?  

A Library should inspire and motivate the community, with safe spaces that spark creativity and joy. This 

renovation will create fresh and compelling children’s spaces to meet the demands of our growing 

population.  

 

What will be different with the funding? / What do we envision this space to be?  

We envision a Library space for children and teens that is safe, cheery, clean, inviting, age appropriate, and 

ADA accessible. It will inspire our local youth upon entry. It will have adequate heating, cooling, lighting, 

and accessibility. It will also have appropriate space for early learning, as well as for teenagers. This 

renovation would bring space for Teen Services to the same floor as Children’s Services, allowing teens to 

maintain relationships with staff they already know and trust, in a modern, vibrant environment.  

 

What should people know about current services at the Bellingham Children’s Library?  

Bellingham Public Library has incredible staff and offers a wide range of free, early learning programs for 

young children and families in our community every day. Brain science increasingly shows the lifelong 

impact of early childhood experiences (birth to 5) and the need for children to positively interact with 

each other and with their caregivers. The Library fosters multi-generational connections at a time when 

community and connection are difficult to find. 

 

12 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda
Communications



 

 
 

Regular Meeting of the Library Board of Trustees 

Tuesday, August 20, 2024 – Central Library Lecture Room 

3:30 p.m.  

 

Minutes of Actions and Decisions of the Library Board of Trustees of the Bellingham Public Library as 

authorized by RCW 27.12.210 and SEC. 7.02 Charter of the City of Bellingham. 

 

 

Board Members Present: Rick Osen, Rebecca Craven, Kristy Van Ness, Kendra Bradford and 

Deborra Garrett 

City Council Library Liaison: Absent 

Library Staff: Rebecca Judd, Annette Bagley, Katrina Buckman, Bethany 

Hoglund, Jennifer Vander Ploeg and Wendy Jenkins 

FOBPL Representative: Carol Comeau, Friends of BPL Board Liaison 

Guest Presenter: Sarah Chaplin, Assistant City Attorney, Senior 

 

 

Call to order and introductions: Regular session was called to order at 3:30 p.m. by Chair, Rick Osen. 

 

Approve/modify agenda: Deborra Garrett moved to approve the agenda. Rebecca Craven seconded. 

Motion carried. 

 

Public comment:  One member of the public provided comment. 

 

Consent agenda: Deborra suggested page numbers be added to the board packets to improve 

navigation. Wendy will make this adjustment. Rebecca Craven moved to approve the July 16, 2024 

Regular meeting minutes and the July 2024 performance and activity measures and financial reports. 

Kendra Bradford seconded. Motion carried.  

 

Board Chair report: 

• Rick reported that the Estate of Kelly K. Follis has generously donated $100,000 to the 

Bellingham Public Library Capital Fund held at Whatcom Community Foundation. We have 

received permission to announce this in our eNewsletter. 

• Rick and Kristy have a meeting set up with Rachel Myers, our Planned Giving consultant, to 

finalize documents. These will be presented at the September or October board meeting. 

 

Board member reports: 

• Rebecca Craven mentioned that the Lynden documentary (featuring the town of Lynden, post-

George Floyd protests) showing at the Pickford Film Center is informative. 

13 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda



 

 
 

• Kristy reported she attended both Children’s Craft Fairs and commended staff for their work on 

these truly fun community programs.  

 

Friends of BPL report:  

• Carol announced the Friends recently received a $25,000 anonymous donation. The Friends’ 

Board will determine the best use of the donation at their meeting in September. 

• The next book sale will be September 26-28. 

 

Library Director report: 

• Rebecca reported that there is a new, collaborative process for reviewing Department budget 

proposals. Over two sessions, all Department Heads were part of the initial review. Next, the 

Mayor and Deputy Administrator Forrest Longman will finalize the list of additions and 

reductions to move forward. 

• As mentioned in the Director’s Report, the Library will be sunsetting curbside service, effective 

September 21. 

• Thanks to funding from the Friends of Bellingham Public Library, the Library will be 

hostingWhat is Addiction? Plain Talk for Our Community on Sept. 12 from 7-8:30 at Bellingham 

High School. 

• Rebecca reminded the Trustees that the Library will be closed on Wednesday, October 9 for All 

Staff Learning Day at an offsite location. 

• Representative Rick Larsen visited and toured the library on July 8. Journalist Robert Mittendorf 

also attended. Rebecca said they had a good conversation. 

 

Central Library Renovation update: Rebecca Judd detailed: 

• Scope: The main pieces of the project, if fully funded, include: 1) Updated/electric HVAC; 2) 

Renovated upper floor; 3) Renovated lower floor; 4) Main floor Help Desk/computer relocation; 

5) Exterior improvements (if Federal funding secured) 

• Timeline: The Library team will be working hard to secure funding for the project through the 

end of this year. At year-end, we’ll be deciding how much we can accomplish with the funds 

we have available – and moving forward. The City’s executive charter team for the project will 

put forward recommendations for the Board to consider, with a final sign-off by the Mayor. For 

the recommendations, there will be a priority on construction activities that touch the whole 

building. 2025 will be devoted to detailed design work and putting the project out to bid. 

Construction would begin in 2026. 

• Funding: There are several funding sources confirmed or in the works: 

o City funds, confirmed. First priority- HVAC ($6.5 million) 

o Board of Trustees funds held at Whatcom Community Foundation, confirmed. ($1 

million) 

o Washington State Capital Improvement Grant. Submitted in April 2024. Announcement 

of projects moving forward to the Governor will come in September/October. (pending 

$2 million) 

o Federal appropriation for exterior work. $250,000 for exterior work has moved forward 

in the House budget. (pending $250K) 

14 



 

 
 

o Private fundraising. We still have approximately $2.5 million to raise to fully fund the 

interior project. Whatcom Community Foundation (WCF) is going to be identifying and 

inviting donors to have a conversation about this funding opportunity in the Fall, with 

an emphasis on raising funds for the Children’s library. To this end, BTV was recently at 

the Library to interview families, film a storytime, and learn more about the project. The 

film and a short narrative will be sent to WCF as soon as it’s ready. 

 

Level of Service: Library Materials:  

• Referring to the document in the packet, Rick explained that he, Rebecca Craven, and Rebecca 

Judd met to prepare the proposed LOS update for Materials. Included in their discussion was 

the impact of our partnership with WCLS. Relative to other libraries in the state and region, we 

are in pretty good shape, but we also need to account for our high use.  

 

Factoring inflation, the Medium standard should now be at $8.53 Library Materials 

Expenditure/Capita, with a 2024 budget of only $7.54. There has been progress, but this shows 

that we will not reach the Medium standard (as directed by City Council in 2017) unless our 

funding is increased. 

 

• Rick moved to adopt the updated Level of Service standard for Library Materials Expenditures 

per Capita, adjusted for inflation and population growth, and to direct Library staff to update 

the standard every 3 years. Kristy Van Ness seconded. Motion carried. 

 

Trustee training – Public Records Act:   

• Sarah Chaplin, Assistant City Attorney, Senior, provided the Trustees with required training on 

the Washington State Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA) and the Public Records Act (PRA) (see 

Attachment #1 for 2024 Open Government Training for Boards and Commissions). 

 

American Library Association (ALA) Conference round-up: 

• Four staff members (Rebecca Judd, Bethany Hoglund, and librarians Katie Bray and Rob 

Werner) reported on the ALA Annual Conference in San Diego from June 27 to July 2.  

o Katie highlighted a solution-oriented session called “Paddling our Canoe Together” 

about Indigenous librarians, and a session called “You are Not Alone—United Against 

Book Bans.” There has been a dramatic increase in book challenges in schools as well as 

public libraries over the past two years. This session focused on how to respond to a 

coordinated challenge/book ban with suggestions for communications, collection 

development policies and updated book challenge forms. 

o Rob highlighted “How to Create a Book Club for Trans Teens” and “Soft Censorship.” 

Examples of soft censorship include: a speaker receives an invite to present and the 

event is canceled at the last minute, or a children’s book is shelved in the adult section, 

and does not reach its intended audience. He also discussed a session on the possible 

impacts of coming elections on libraries (see Attachment #2 for 2024 Election 

Collaboration Toolkit and ReaderVoterReady handouts). Rob was inspired by the 

conference to apply to be a selector for the Stonewall Book Awards. 

15 



 

 
 

o Bethany highlighted the opening keynote by comedian and author Trevor Noah,  

“Sexual Harassment in Public and Academic Libraries” (noting that there is a team at 

BPL working on this topic), and “Program Challenges and Crisis Management.” Overall, 

Bethany found the conference energizing, encouraging and full of interesting sessions. 

o Rebecca highlighted “Safety and Security in Public Libraries: Resources and Ideas to 

Help” presented by the Canadian Urban Libraries Council. This session focused on 3 

overlapping national crises – underfunding of mental health services, homelessness and 

the lack of affordable housing, and the devastating impacts of readily available 

fentanyl. Presenters shared a Safety and Security toolkit they developed. Another 

session, “Top 10 Things Every Library Board Member Should Know – but Often Don’t,” 

Rebecca found to be dynamic and engaging. The presenter was Mary Beth Harrington, 

president of the Timberland Regional Library board of trustees. Overall, Rebecca 

reported the conference was well attended and included a lot of easy networking. 

 

New Business: 

• Deborra will not be able to attend the September meeting. 

 

Agenda items for next meeting:   

• Back in Circulation conference preview 

• Planned Giving program approval (tentative) 

 

Meeting adjourned at 5:00 p.m. 

 

Next Regular Library Board Meeting – September 17, 2024 – Central Library Lecture Room – 

3:30 p.m.  

 

Chair, Library Board of Trustees 

ATTEST 

Secretary, Library Board of Trustees 

 

Attachments: 

• Attachment #1: 2024 Open Government Training for Boards and Commissions 

• Attachment #2: 2024 Election Collaboration Toolkit and ReaderVoterReady handouts 

16 



1

Presented by: Sarah W. Chaplin

Sr. Assistant City Attorney / Public Records Officer

360.778.8276  swchaplin@cob.org

2024 Open Government Training for Boards 
and Commissions 

17 

wjenkins
Typewriter
August 20, 2024 Meeting Minutes Attachment #1



2

This training: roadmap

• Open Public 
Meetings Act 
overview

• Public Records Act 
overview

• Questions

18 



3

OPEN Government TRAINING

Prepared by the Washington State Attorney General’s Office

Last revised: April 15, 2024

Open Public Meetings act
Chapter 42.30 RCW 

19 



4

outline

Significance of  Open Government & Transparency

The Open Public Meetings Act

This presentation is educational only and is not legal advice or a legal opinion. 

The OPMA changes over time. Later court decisions, or changes in statutes, can 

impact the law, an agency’s obligations and the expectations on individuals.

DISCLAIMER

4
20 



the OPMA is one of Washington’s 
“Transparency Laws” or  “Sunshine Laws”

U.S. Supreme Court Justice 

Louis Brandeis

"Sunlight is the best disinfectant.”

Transparency builds public confidence in government.

Washington’s 

Open Public Meetings Act 

Passed in 1971.

Requires meetings to be open 
to the public, gavel to gavel.

5
21 



The OPMA –  starting point

“The people do not yield their sovereignty to the 
agencies which serve them.”

“The people, in delegating authority, do not 
give public servants the right to decide what is 

good for the people to know and what is not 
good for them to know.”

RCW 42.30.010 6
22 



7

OPMA Policy

RCW 42.30.010; Columbia Riverkeeper v. Port of  Vancouver USA

It is the intent of  this chapter that the actions 
of  a governing body be taken openly and that 
their deliberations be conducted openly.

The people insist on remaining informed and 
informing the people’s public servants of  their views 
so that they may retain control over the instruments 
they have created.

The OPMA, ch. 42.30 RCW, is our 
comprehensive transparency statute. The 
act seeks “to ensure public bodies make 
decisions openly.” 

7
23 



8

OPMA Policy

RCW 42.30.910; Mead School Dist. No 354 v. Mead Ed. Ass’n.

The OPMA is to be liberally construed to effectuate its 
purpose, exceptions are narrowly confined. It’s 
intended to guarantee public access to and participation 
in the activities of  their representative agencies.

8
24 



Multi-member public state and local agencies, such as boards and commissions: 

• Any state board, commission, committee, department, educational institution, or other state 
agency which is created by or pursuant to statute, other than courts and the legislature.  

• Any county, city, school district, special purpose district, or other municipal corporation or 
political subdivision of  Washington.  

• Any subagency of  a public agency which is created by or pursuant to statute, ordinance, or 
other legislative act, including but not limited to planning commissions, library or park 
boards, commissions, and agencies.  

• Any policy group whose membership includes representatives of  publicly owned utilities 
formed by or pursuant to the laws of  this state when meeting together as or on behalf  of  
participants who have contracted for the output of  generating plants being planned or built 
by an operating agency.

“Public Agencies” subject to the OPMA.  
RCW 42.30.020

OPMA Applies To:

9
25 



RCW 42.30.020; RCW 42.30.140

The OPMA does not apply to:

These activities:

❑ Licensing/permitting for businesses, 
occupations or professions or their 
disciplinary proceedings (or proceedings to 
receive a license for a sports activity, or to 
operate a mechanical device or motor 
vehicle).

❑ Quasi-judicial matters.

❑ Matters governed by the Washington 

Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05.

❑ Collective bargaining.

These entities:

❑ Courts

❑ Legislature

❑ Agencies not defined as “public 
agency” in OPMA, such as 
agencies governed by a single 
individual.

❑ Private organizations, i.e., HOA’s, 
Youth Sports Clubs.

10
26 



All meetings of  the GOVERNING BODY of  a PUBLIC AGENCY 

shall be open and public and all persons shall be permitted to attend any 

meeting of  the governing body of  a public agency, except as otherwise 

provided in RCW 42.30.

Public agencies are encouraged to provide for the increased ability of  the 
public to observe and participate in the meetings of  governing bodies 
through real-time telephonic, electronic, internet, or other readily available 
means of  remote access that do not require an additional cost to access 
the meeting.

RCW 42.30.030

Basic Requirements

11
27 



INCLUDES

What is a Governing Body?

Multimember boards, commissions, councils, or other policy or 
rule-making bodies of  a public agency.

–  Committees and Subcommittees –
Acting on behalf of governing body, taking 

testimony or public comment, or 
conducting hearings.

– Advisory Bodies – 
If the body’s advice is necessary for the 

governing body to act, and the body was 
created by the legislative body.

RCW 42.30.020 12
28 



Meeting

▪Meeting means meetings at which the public agency takes “action.” 

▪Requires a majority of  its members (quorum). No meeting if  less 
than a quorum.   

▪ Physical presence not required – an exchange of  e-mail could 
constitute a meeting. 

▪Does not need to be titled “meeting” – may be a “retreat,” 
“workshop,” “study session,” etc. 

▪ Simply receiving information without comment is not a meeting.

RCW 42.30.020 13
29 



14

Meeting requires a 

Collective Intent to Meet

Citizens Alliance v. San Juan County,

184 Wn.2d 428, 359 P.3d 753 (2015).

No OPMA violation because the 
commissioners were not aware that 
the communications included a 
majority, and passive receipt of  
information is not “action” under the 
OPMA.

Egan v. City of  Seattle, 

14 Wn. App.2d 594, 471 P.3d 899 (2020).

OPMA violation found. Over two 
dozen communications occurred 
between individual councilmembers, as 
well as city staff, during a three-day 
period. Communications included in-
person meetings, emails, phone calls, 
text messages, and distribution of  hard 
copies of  a draft press release.

14
30 



15

The transaction of  the official business of  the public agency

and includes but is not limited to:

 Public Testimony All Deliberations Discussions
 Considerations Reviews Evaluations
  Final Action

  See upcoming slide on Final Action.

The requirements of  the OPMA are triggered

whether or not “final” action is taken.  

   

Action

RCW 42.30.020; Citizens Alliance for Property Rights Legal Fund v. San Juan County 15
31 



16

Final Action

▪ “Final action” is a collective positive or 
negative decision, or an actual vote, by a 
majority of  the governing body, or by the 
“committee thereof.”

▪ Must be taken in public, even if  deliberations 
were in executive session.

▪ Secret ballots are not allowed.

RCW 42.30.060; RCW 42.30.020

VOTE

16
32 



Public Attendance

RCW 42.30.040; Zink v. City of  Mesa, AGO Opinion 1998 No. 15.

▪ A public agency can’t place conditions on public to attend meetings 
subject to OPMA.

▪ Reasonable rules of  conduct can be set.

▪ Governing body may adopt generally applicable conditions 
determined to be reasonably necessary to protect public health or 
safety, or to protect against interruptions.

▪ Agencies encouraged to provide remote access that does not require 
an additional cost to access the meeting. 

▪ Cameras and tape recorders are permitted unless disruptive.

17
33 



Agencies are encouraged to:

▪ Provide remote access that does not require an additional cost to access 

the meeting. 

▪ Provide an online streaming option for all regular meetings. 

▪Make audio or video recordings and make recordings available online for 

a minimum of  six months. (This does not alter recordkeeping 

requirements under chapter 42.56 RCW. Additional requirements for 

School Boards, see upcoming slide.)

Remote Observation 
and Participation

RCW 42.30.220 18
34 



• SCHOOL BOARDS - Audio recording required at regular and special meetings at 
which final action is taken OR public testimony is accepted.

• Must include the comments of  the directors and the comments of  members of  
the public, if  any formal testimony was accepted.

• Recordings must be provided electronically to a PRA request; specific content 
required in order to request recordings.  

• Allowances for good faith “technology issues.”

• Encouragement to make content available in languages other than English.

• Exception for emergency meetings and executive sessions.

School boards - meetings
Effective June 30, 2024

RCW 42.30.035 19
35 



20

Public Comment

Oral Comment

• The governing body shall, when 

reasonable, provide people with a 

disability, limited mobility or any other 

reason that makes physical attendance 

difficult, the opportunity to make oral 

comment.

• May put guidelines in place for public 

comment i.e., time limits. 

Written Comment

• Written testimony must be distributed 

to the governing body.

• May have reasonable deadlines for 

submission of  written testimony.

RCW 42.56.240

Oral or written public comment required at or before 
every regular meeting at which final action is taken.

20
36 



▪ Recurring meetings held in accordance with a periodic schedule 
by ordinance, resolution, bylaws or other rule.

▪ Must have an agenda available online at least 24 hours in 
advance of  the published start time of  the meeting. Agency may 
share or have website hosted by another public agency.

▪Agenda may be modified.

▪Any otherwise legal action taken at a regular meeting, where 
agenda was not posted 24 hours in advance, is not invalidated. 
Failure to post agenda is not the basis for attorney fees, 
mandamus or injunction.

Regular Meetings

RCW 42.30.070; RCW 42.30.075; RCW 42.30.077 21
37 



A special purpose district, city, or town is not required to post an agenda online if  

the district, city, or town:

(a) Has an aggregate valuation of  the property subject to taxation by the district, city, 

or town of  less than $400,000,000, as placed on the last completed and balanced tax 

rolls of  the county preceding the date of  the most recent tax levy;

(b) Has a population within its jurisdiction of  under 3,000 persons; and

(c) Provides confirmation to the state auditor at the time it files its annual reports 

under RCW 43.09.230 that the cost of  posting notices on a website of  its own, a 

shared website, or on the website of  the county in which the largest portion of  the 

district's, city's, or town's population resides, would exceed one-tenth of  one percent 

of  the district's, city's, or town's budget.

Regular Meetings – Small 

agency agenda exemption

RCW 42.30.077 22
38 



23

Special Meetings

A “special meeting” is a meeting that is not a regular meeting. 
Can be called by presiding officer OR majority of  the members.

RCW 42.30.080

Notice of  Meeting

Written notice, 24 hours before the meeting of  the Time, Place and 
Business to be Transacted.

Exception: not required when the notice cannot be posted with reasonable safety.

How Notice is Provided

• To each member of  the governing body (unless waived).
• To each local newspaper of  general circulation, radio, and TV station which has a notice 

request on file.

• Posted on the agency’s website [with certain exceptions in RCW 42.30.080(2)(b)].

• Prominently displayed at the main entrance of  the agency’s principal location and the 

meeting site (if  not at the same location, or not remote).

23
39 



24

Emergency Special Meetings

Notice is not required for a special meeting called to deal with an emergency* when:

RCW 42.30.080(4)

Time requirements of  such notice 
would make notice impractical and 
increase the likelihood of  such injury 
or damage. 

The required notice cannot be posted or 
displayed with reasonable safety, 
including but not limited to declared 
emergencies in which travel to physically 
post notice is barred or advised against.

OR

* Emergency means circumstances involving injury or damage to 
persons or property or the likelihood of  such injury or damage.

24
40 



Remote emergency Meetings

Requirements for a remote meeting:
• Declared emergency at the local, state or federal level AND the agency determines it cannot 

hold a meeting in person with reasonable safety where members or public are in attendance. 

• Public must be able to listen, if  not, meeting prohibited - except executive session.

• Notice of  meeting must include remote participation instructions and otherwise comply with 

the OPMA notice requirements.

Structure for an emergency remote meeting:

• Option 1: Hold an all remote meeting without a physical location.

• Option 2: Hold a meeting with governing body present but some or all of  the public excluded. 

RCW 42.56.230 25

Members of  a governing body may participate in a meeting remotely, with no declared 

emergency, if  otherwise permitted by agency policy or practice.

41 



26

▪ Part of  a regular or special meeting that is closed to the public.

▪ Limited to specific purposes set out in the OPMA, RCW 42.30.110.

▪ Purpose of  the executive session and the time it will end must be 

announced by the presiding officer before it begins.

▪ Time may be extended. Must be announced by presiding officer.

▪ Purpose of  executive session must be entered into the minutes.

Executive Session

RCW 42.30.110 26
42 



27

Executive Session

RCW 42.30.110

• To evaluate qualifications of  applicant 
for public employment.

• Consideration of  the minimum price at 
which real estate will be offered for sale 
or lease when public knowledge 
regarding such consideration would 
cause a likelihood of  decreased price. 
Final action selling or leasing public 
property must be taken at open 
meeting.

• Review negotiations on the 
performance of  publicly bid 
contracts when public knowledge 
regarding such consideration would 
cause a likelihood of  increased costs.

• Meet with legal counsel regarding 
enforcement actions, litigation or 
potential litigation.

• National Security.

Sample of  allowed purposes for an Executive Session.

Examples above may be summaries. Please review the statute’s actual provisions. 

Other purposes are identified in RCW 42.30.110(1).
27

43 



Travel and 

Gathering

• A majority of  the members of  a governing 
body may travel together or gather for 
purposes other than a regular meeting or a 
special meeting, so long as no action is taken.

• Discussion or consideration of  official 
business would be action; action triggers the 
OPMA’s requirements.

RCW 42.30.070 28
44 



▪Minutes of  public meetings must be promptly recorded and open to 

public inspection.

▪Minutes of  an executive session are not required.

▪No format specified in law.  

▪Executive session’s purpose must be recorded in the minutes.

▪ If  meeting provides remote option, add relevant information to the 

minutes like links & phone numbers.

Minutes

RCW 42.30.035 29
45 



30

30

▪May stop individuals from speaking when not recognized to speak.

▪ The OPMA provides a procedure for dealing with situations where a meeting is 
being interrupted, the orderly conduct of  the meeting is unfeasible, and order 
cannot be restored by removal of  the disruptive persons.

Interruptions and Disruptions

RCW 42.30.050 30

▪OPMA provides hierarchy for restoration of  an 
orderly meeting, through removal of  individuals 
who are interrupting the meeting, clearing the 
meeting room, or moving the meeting to another 
location. Final disposition can occur only on 
matters appearing on the agenda. More details set 
out in the OPMA.

46 



31

OPMA Penalties

▪ Penalty may be imposed against individual members of  
the governing body for knowing violations by the courts.

• $500 fine for the first violation.

• $1,000 for subsequent violation.

• Costs and attorney fees.

▪ Mandamus or injunctive action to stop violations.

RCW 42.30.120 31

▪ Final action at illegal meetings 
may be declared void.

47 



• The “Open Government Trainings Act” requires OPMA training for  every 

member of  a governing body within 90 days of  taking their oath or assuming their 

duties.  RCW 42.30.205.

• Refresher training occurs no later than every four years.

• Training can be taken online, in person, or by other means.

• Training resources, videos, and more information about the Act are available on the 

Attorney General’s Office Open Government Training Web Page:  

http://www.atg.wa.gov/OpenGovernmentTraining.aspx

OPMA Training

RCW 42.30.205 32
48 



• The Attorney General’s Office may provide information, technical assistance, and 
training on the OPMA. Contact Assistant Attorney General for Open 
Government.

• The Attorney General’s Office may issue formal opinions about the OPMA for 
qualified requesters.

• The Attorney General’s Office has another OPMA resource, further information 
can be found in the Open Government Resource Manual, found on the the 
following webpage: http://www.atg.wa.gov/Open-Government.  

RCW 42.30.210

OPMA Assistance

33
49 



34

34

Municipal Research & Services Center

34
50 



35

OPMA: practical takeaways

• Be wary of “serial meetings” and “e-mail 

meetings”

• If you want to communicate something with the 

entire group, e-mail it to City staff; staff can 

distribute it to the entire group

• Avoid “Reply All” 

51 



36

Public Records Act

52 



37

Why is compliance with the Public Records Act important?

• Supports open democracy

• Encourages public trust and 
transparency

• Holds government accountable

• Demonstrates the way City 
makes decisions

• Quote straight from the PRA:

– “The people insist on 
remaining informed so they 
may retain control over the 
instruments they have 
created.”

As U.S. Supreme Court Justice Brandeis famously 
said: “Sunshine is the best disinfectant.” 

53 



38

Back to Basics: What’s a public record?

“Public Record” means:
– any writing (very broadly defined!)
– containing information relating to the conduct of government or 
– the performance of any governmental or proprietary function 
– prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency 

regardless of physical form or characteristics.  RCW 42.56.010

Bottom line: Records can exist in any format.

Best practice tip: If you put it down into any tangible 
form and it relates to your Board/Commission duties, 
assume it’s a public record. 

54 



39

Records can exist in any format, including…

• Documents

• Email

• Text messages / instant 
messages (AKA Teams Chats)

• Social media

• Databases

• Images

• Voicemail

• Video

• And so on…

Video recordings of city meetings or events are 
public records. 

55 



40

Note: Public Records include…

• …records related to city 

business when they are 

created or retained by 

agency employees or 

officials on personal 

computers or devices, or 

in non-City e-mail 

accounts or files. 

• Example: text messages

56 



41

E-mails

• City OR personal e-mail is a public 
record if you are using it to conduct 
city business.

• The City archives all incoming and 
outgoing e-mails from COB.org e-mail 
addresses

• You should assume that any records – 
including e-mails – you create that 
relate to your duties as a 
Board/Commission member could end 
up on the front page of the newspaper.

• Don’t overuse “reply all” – creates 
multiple copies, also helps avoid 
inadvertent OPMA violation

Best practice tip: Create a separate e-mail 
folder for your Board/Commission related 
e-mails. Store these e-mails separately 
from all other e-mail.

57 



42

City of Bellingham process for receiving and 

responding to public records requests

• City has a convenient Records 

Portal, accessible on the City 

website.

• However, by law requesters are 

not required to use the online 

portal to make a request.

• What should you do if you 

receive a public records 

request?

58 



43

Processing Public Records Requests

• What do I do if I receive a public records request?

– Contact a City staff member 

– Remember the five-day rule

• What do I do if City staff ask me to provide responsive 
records?

59 



44

If city staff ask you to provide records in 
response to a public records request:

– Provide all responsive records to city 
staff upon request.

– You should not self-edit or withhold 
any documents even if you believe 
part of the record is not responsive, or 
if you believe the records are 
embarrassing, confidential, or may be 
exempt.

– If you have questions or concerns, 
please raise them with 
Board/Commission staff or the City 
Attorney's Office.

Don’t do this. 

60 



45

Searching for records

• An agency must conduct an adequate search for responsive 
records.  

• The search should be reasonably calculated to uncover 
responsive records.

• The search should follow obvious leads to possible locations 
where records are likely to be found.

• If responsive public records are on or in employees’/officials’ 
personal devices, personal accounts, or personal files, those 
must be searched, too. 

• The agency bears the burden of proof to show the adequacy of the 
search.   

~ RCW 42.56.520; Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane v. Spokane County; Hobbs v. State; Block v. City of Gold 
Bar; Nissen v. Pierce County

61 



46

Exemptions

• Records are presumed open.  

• If a record, or part of a record, is withheld from the public, the 
agency must cite to an “exemption” in law and give a brief 
explanation.

• Exemptions are narrowly construed.

• The general rule is the agency withholds only the exempt 
information, and releases the rest.

• Exemptions must be authorized in law --- in PRA or other laws.

• ~ RCW 42.56.050; RCW 42.56.210 - .510; RCW 42.56.550 

62 



47

Non-compliance consequences

• Fines and legal penalties: If a court 
finds that the City incorrectly withheld 
a record, it can fine the City up to $100 
per day per record

• Plus, a court will award the prevailing 
requester’s attorneys fees and costs.

• Personal consequences: Involvement 
in litigation, invasive searches of your 
devices, potential criminal penalties 
for destroying records

• A court is to consider factors in 
requiring an agency to pay a penalty. 

Seattle city officials were required to submit 
their phones to an outside digital forensics 
firm in response to a Public Records Act 
lawsuit.

63 



48

PRA Takeaways…
• The PRA is a broad mandate in favor of public disclosure.

• Store your City records separately from personal records.

• If you receive a public records request, inform a City staff member 
immediately.

• If City staff ask you to provide records, please do so. 

• Contact information:
– Sarah Chaplin, Sr. Assistant City Attorney / Public Records Officer: 

swchaplin@cob.org, 360-778-8276

64 

mailto:swchaplin@cob.org


65 

wjenkins
Typewriter
August 20, 2024 Meeting Minutes 
Attachment #2



66 



67 



68 



69 



70 



71 



72 



YTD comparison
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 with 2023

Holdings - Number of materials in the library's collection

Physical copies added to collection 1,655 1,769 14,772 17,257 -14.40%
Electronic copies purchased by BPL 338 135 1,256 1,387 -9.44%
Physical copies withdrawn from the collection (382) (4,881) (14,859) (19,697) -24.56%
Total physical holdings 183,162 180,731 1.35%
Total electronic holdings available to BPL 158,915 147,673 7.61%

Total Holdings (Physical and Electronic) 342,077 328,404 4.16%
Circulation - Number of items checked out or renewed; includes Interlibrary Loan and Outreach activity

Central Library
Adult 41,562 42,859 325,828 337,193 -3.37%
Youth 45,576 46,426 335,979 348,754 -3.66%

Sub-Total Central 87,138 89,285 661,807 685,947 -3.52%

Fairhaven Branch
Adult 5,000 5,406 39,738 40,463 -1.79%
Youth 2,990 2,976 21,106 19,314 9.28%

Sub-Total Fairhaven 7,990 8,382 60,844 59,777 1.78%

Barkley Branch
Adult 4,709 4,909 37,179 36,671 1.38%
Youth 4,911 4,597 33,433 34,215 -2.29%

Sub-Total Barkley 9,620 9,506 70,612 70,886 -0.39%

Bellis Fair Branch
Adult 1,174 1,335 9,830 4,266 130.43%
Youth 1,962 2,074 14,965 6,893 117.10%

Sub-Total Bellis Fair 3,136 3,409 24,795 11,159 122.20%

Bellingham Technical College
Adult 32 5 284 183 55.19%
Youth 4 1 38 36 5.56%

Sub-Total BTC 36 6 322 219 47.03%

Whatcom Community College
Adult 164 118 1,189 1,403 -15.25%
Youth 24 67 221 557 -60.32%

Sub-Total WCC 188 185 1,410 1,960 -28.06%

Western Washington University
Adult 209 103 1,615 1,129 43.05%
Youth 35 50 592 347 70.61%

Sub-Total WWU 244 153 2,207 1,476 49.53%

Sub-Total Physical 108,352 110,926 821,997 831,424 -1.13%

Online Services
Kanopy 1,513 1,990 14,523 14,510 0.09%
WA Anytime Library Overdrive 39,936 38,298 324,636 292,333 11.05%
Overdrive Magazines 4,319 1,941 47,526 15,006 216.71%

Sub-Total Online 45,768 42,229 386,685 321,849 20.14%
Total Circulation 154,120 153,155 1,208,682 1,153,273 4.80%
Holds Activity

Items placed on hold shelf 52,823 52,333 418,848 406,675 2.99%

Services
Persons Visiting - Number of persons counted as they enter the libraries

Curbside 34 27 290 289 0.35%
Central Library 31,800 241,446
Fairhaven Branch 3,156 25,026
Barkley Branch 2,944 21,119
Bellis Fair Branch 2,123 16,746

Total Persons Visiting 40,057 27 304,627 289
Website Visits 41,010 41,443 336,356 324,799 3.56%

This count reflects number of visits to www.bellinghampubliclibrary.org
Bibliocommons Visits 38,355 18,615 269,783 133,310 102.37%

This count reflects number of visits to Bibliocommons
Total Website Visits 79,365 60,058 606,139 458,109 32.31%
Computer Usage - Number of sessions
Central Library

Adult & Teen (30 terminals) 3,341 3,544 24,990 24,174 3.38%
Childrens (3 terminals) 78 71 600 395 51.90%

   Fairhaven Branch (6 terminals) 294 212 1,905 1,573 21.11%
   Barkley Branch (4 terminals) 173 176 1,259 1,195 5.36%
   Bellis Fair Branch (4 terminals) 131 98 1,009 338 198.52%
Total Computer Usage 4,017 4,101 29,763 27,675 7.54%
New Borrowers Registered

Central Library 619 608 4,967 4,320 14.98%
Fairhaven Branch 42 35 304 262 16.03%
Barkley Branch 45 32 254 290 -12.41%
Bellis Fair Branch 33 76 396 298 32.89%

Total New Borrowers Registered 739 751 5,921 5,170 14.53%
Programs - Library sponsored or co-sponsored educational, recreational, or cultural programs

Programs 48 53 693 723 -4.15%
Attendees 2,055 1,518 19,930 17,417 14.43%

Volunteer Hours 277 390 3,431 3,868 -11.31%

August Year to Date

Bellingham Public Library - Performance & Activity Measures, 2024

73 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda



BELLINGHAM PUBLIC LIBRARY
Board of Library Trustees August 2024 CLAIMS

VENDOR AMOUNT
Materials, Equipment and Supplies
Replace book drop lock Accurate Lock & Security 4.58
Books; DVDs; supplies; child masks Amazon 877.63
Books Baker & Taylor 26,071.87
Retirement gift Canva 86.11
Periodicals Cascadia Newspaper 300.00
Books Cavendish Square Books 202.77
Books Center Point Large Print 105.82
Program Supply Chef Store 62.69
Water (Barkley & Bellis Fair Branches) Clearwater 60.50
Absolute Secure Software Dell Marketing 69.49
Lost Interlibrary loan Eastern Illinois University 50.00
Periodicals Ebsco Subscription Services 5,203.95
Periodicals International Periodical 43.59
DVDs, CDs, recorded books Midwest Tape 5,504.35
Vehicle fuel Nelson-Reisner Distributor 199.59
Office supplies ODP Business Solutions 512.50
Labels Sticky Business 330.36
Consumer Box Set subscription Weiss Ratings 462.05
Copier paper WCP Solutions 682.34

Materials, Equipment & Supplies Sub Total $40,830.19

Services and Interfund Charges
Barkley Branch cleaning Action Cleaning 783.62
Bellis Fair Branch cleaning Advantage Building Services 1,477.66
Memberships American Library Association 247.00
PNLA Conference Amtrak 76.00
Hotspot service AT&T 18.24
Preprocessing Baker & Taylor 7,510.63
Bellis Fair Branch lease Bellis Fair Mall Territories 5,357.00
Bellis Fair Branch natural gas Cascade Natural Gas 21.03
Computer replacement allocation City of Bellingham Interfund 14,133.11
Facilities allocation City of Bellingham Interfund 55,926.43
Fleet Services City of Bellingham Interfund 820.00
IT Service allocation City of Bellingham Interfund 28,350.29
Qualified Energy Conservation Bond sinking fund City of Bellingham Interfund 3,517.00
Risk Management City of Bellingham Interfund 13,435.61
Technology replacement allocation City of Bellingham Interfund 3,182.02
Telecom Services City of Bellingham Interfund 3,658.50

LIST OF CLAIMS AGAINST THE BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES AND THE CITY OF BELLINGHAM TO BE CONSIDERED AND 
APPROVED AT THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 17, 2024, IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH RCW 27.12.210 AND 27.12.240.

174 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda



BELLINGHAM PUBLIC LIBRARY
Board of Library Trustees August 2024 CLAIMS

Playbook ad City of Bellingham Parks department 1,125.00
Barkley & Bellis Fair branch water cooler rentals Clearwater Systems 37.47
Printing Copy Source 244.60
Graphic Design Katrina Lyon Design 400.00
Copier leases and copies Kelley Create 1,318.41
Translation services Language Line 452.25
Preprocessing Midwest Tape 600.83
Mobile hotspot Mobilebeacon 840.00
eBooks, eAudiobooks Overdrive Inc 13,075.82
PNBA Conference Pacific Northwest Booksellers 235.00
Bellis Fair internet service Pogozone Wireless 367.49
Directors Retreat Public Libraries of Washington 75.00
Digital subscription Seattle Times 19.96
ASKWA Membership Secretary of State 500.00
AVERT Lethal Threat Training Shawn Ritchey 500.00
Barkley Branch operating costs Talbot Services LLC 533.33
Terminal Server License Team Software Solutions 327.00
Microfische machine lease Technology Unlimited 340.08
Borrower notices Unique Management 233.50
Interlibrary Loan postage USPS 10.22
Hotspot service Verizon Wireless 1,360.34
Information Fair Western Washington University 30.00
EZProxy Software Whatcom County Library 2,898.62
Microsoft Publisher Public Computer Licenses Zones IT Solutions 7,459.72

Services and Interfund Charges Sub Total $171,498.78

Capital Outlays
Envisionware Inc. Automated Materials Handler 33,934.43

CAPITAL OUTLAYS Sub Total $33,934.43

Gift Fund
CDs Amazon.com 280.44
Books Baker & Taylor 198.96
What is Addiction Community Event Guud Bowls 620.00
Summer Reading Prize Books Scholastic Education 1,577.87
Books Village Books 2,288.18

GIFT FUND OUTLAYS Sub Total $4,965.45

Total General Fund claims $246,263.40

Total General Fund & Gift Fund claims $251,228.85

275 



City of Bellingham

YTD Actuals Budget Remaining % Complete

0 0
10,925 15,000 4,075 73%
7,060 16,100 9,040 44%

0 5,000 5,000 0%
Miscellaneous Revenues 637 0 (637)

18,621 36,100 17,479 52%

2,324,928 3,596,148 1,271,220 65%
1,158,282 1,817,162 658,880 64%

254,348 365,845 111,498 70%
1,629,924 2,196,226 566,301 74%

33,934 35,000 1,066 97%
5,401,417 8,010,381 2,608,965 67%

YTD Actuals Budget Remaining % Complete

51,791 122,141 70,350 42%
51,791 122,141 70,350 42%

17,577 150,000 132,423 12%
22,542 150,000 127,458 15%

Library - Budget to Actual - General Fund
August 2024 67% YTD

Salaries and Wages

Revenues

Print and Copy Fees
Lost, Damage & Non-resident Borrower Fees
Fairhaven Auditorium Rental Fees

Total Revenue

Expenses

Grants

Total Expenditure

Personnel Benefits
Physical Materials, Equipment and Supplies
Services, Digital Materials and Interfund
Automated Materials Handler expansion

Library - Budget to Actual - Gift Fund
August 2024 67% YTD

Total Revenue

Revenues
Donations

Total Expenditure
Gift Fund expenses
Expenses

76 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Consent Agenda



 

 
 
 
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT FOR September 17, 2024 
  
In this time of City-wide budget reductions, it was heartening to receive some good news this month. Our 
$2 million Library Capital Improvement Grant application for Central Library interior renovations has moved 
forward to the Governor’s office. There are still many more steps in the process, but this was a significant 
milestone. In addition, we have been working with BTV to create a video to support our private fundraising 
efforts with Whatcom Community Foundation. This video, along with a 1-page Fact Sheet, will be shared 
with donors who are interested in the project. (Rebecca Judd, Library Director) 
     
   

WELCOME & INCLUDE 
 
Mount Vernon City Library Staff Tour: On Tues. Sept. 10 we hosted a contingent of seven staff from the 
Mount Vernon City Library for a tour of the Central library and our collections processing system. The 
visitors were all involved with some aspects of collection processing. Operations Supervisor Alison gave 
them a tour of the building, and I met with them to discuss BPL’s Collections Services division and how we 
organize our work. They are looking for ideas to streamline their systems now that they are nearly moved 
in to their new, larger facility where they are expecting more circulation activity. Their staff who do 
processing tasks also do circulation tasks, so they are trying to be proactive about addressing possible 
capacity issues. We are looking forward to visiting their new building once they’ve had a chance to settle 
in. (Jon McConnel, Head of Digital Services) 
 
Public Services Staffing Changes: Outreach Services is fully staffed again, with the return of Colleen 
Morse. Clerks Arbor Hoff and Miles Allen-Young did a great job ensuring this important service continued 
during her planned absence. Also in Public Services, Security and Information Attendant Joshua Kinney 
accepted another position with Bellingham School District. His last day will be September 16, 2024. We 
hope to hire two security staff to bring our team back up to five as soon as possible. A huge thanks is due 
to our current security team, Tim Kelley, Dani Shelton, and Soleil Borthwick, for maintaining a high level of 
security support during hiring and training processes. (Katrina Buckman, Head of Public Services)  
 
New Library Assistants: We welcomed two new Library Assistants in mid-September. They are busy 
learning about the Library and the many duties of the Library Assistant position. (Jen Vander Ploeg, Head 
of Operations) 
 
Staff Learning Day: BPL’s Staff Learning Day Committee has been meeting monthly since May to create 
our inaugural all-staff event happening October 9. Committee members from every workgroup (Andrea 
Johnson, Tim Kelley, Arbor Hoff, Liz Hendershott, Jenni Johnson, Miranda LeonJones, and Kate Dunphy) 
are making final preparations for our “Gateway to Connection” themed gathering.  This day of learning 
and team building will increase our understanding of each other’s roles and responsibilities, strengthen 
our team cohesiveness, and improve our capacity and skill in serving all patrons. We look forward to 
reporting on the event in next month’s Board report! (Kate Dunphy, Staff Development Coordinator / 
Rebecca Judd, Library Director) 

77 

wjenkins
Typewriter
Library Board
September 17, 2024
Item #5 Director's Report



 
 

ACCESS & OPPORTUNITY 
 
Drive-up Returns Bin at Barkley Village: Leah Macaleer, VP of Marketing & Leasing for the Talbot 
Group/Barley Village, has approved the Library’s request to install an outdoor, drive-up library returns bin 
in the Regal Cinemas parking lot at Barkley Village. Funding for this project was raised on Library Giving 
Day 2022 alongside funds for Community Voices Book Kits. BPL Operations and Community Relations will 
work on the details for purchasing, wrapping and installing the returns bin. (Annette Bagley, Head of 
Community Relations) 
 
Barkley ADA Door Opener: The Library purchased and managed the project to install an ADA door 
opener at the Barkley branch. This work was completed over several days in the first week of September. 
(Jen Vander Ploeg, Head of Operations) 
 
 

READ & LEARN 
 

Summer Reading Success: Congratulations to our Summer Reading finishers! We 
had 1,542 children finishers, 114 teen finishers and 264 adult finishers. Thank 
you to the staff for their ceaseless enthusiasm and participation this year as they 
talked up Summer Reading to community members of all ages, awarded prizes to 
Summer Reading finishers, and wore our new Summer Reading t-shirts all 
summer long. Additionally, thank you to the Friends of the Bellingham Public 
Library, whose sponsorship makes Summer Reading happen and to our 17 
Summer Reading Prize partners: The Bagelry, Boomer’s Drive-In, Colophon Café, 
Great Harvest Bread Company, It’s the Sweet Things, Mallard Ice Cream, 

Mammoth Mini Gold at Bellis Fair Mall, Menchie’s Frozen Yogurt, Mindport Exhibits, Pizza Time, Playdate 
BLI, Pure Bliss Desserts, Robeks, Ruckus Room, Shirlee Bird Café, SPARK Museum and Yeager’s Toyland. 
(Bethany Hoglund, Deputy Library Director)  Photo: Summer Reading SUPERSTAR Saydee 
 
Staff Summer Reading Success: Thanks to the support of the Friends of the Bellingham Public Library, 
Adult Services Librarian Katie Bray ran a Staff Summer Reading program parallel to the community 
Summer Reading program. Katie reports that this was the biggest year of staff participation yet, with 38 
staff cards turned in. Thank you, Katie, for creating such a fun staff opportunity to engage with Summer 
Reading and each other in a fun and meaningful way. (Bethany Hoglund, Deputy Library Director) 
 

Library Hosted All-Community Event: On Sept. 12, Bellingham 
Public Library and numerous partners hosted “What Is Addiction? 
Plain Talk for Our Community” at Bellingham High School. The event 
was attended by approximately 150 people. The collaboration 
featured a keynote on the basics of addiction by local expert Dr. 
Shannon Boustead and a panel discussion by community members 
in recovery talking about their experiences. The Library also 
distributed 100 free copies of the book Un-Addiction: 6 Mind 

Changing Conversations That Could Save a Life by Nzinga Harrison, MD with Lynya Floyd. Bellingham 
Public Library patrons are also able to download and listen to the audiobook version of this book without 
a wait through Libby. This book has already been downloaded 100 times in the past month by BPL 
patrons alone. Huge thank yous to Library staff Miranda LeonJones, Jenni Johnson, Suzanne Carlson-

78 



Prandini, Kate Dunphy, Jennifer Lovchik and Greg Dodd for their work on this project. Additional thank 
yous to all of the presenters, BTV, the organizing committee, and all the community members and 
organizations who forwarded event information to their personal and professional networks. Funding for 
this event was provided by The Friends of the Bellingham Public Library. Partners included the City of 
Bellingham Mayor’s Office, and Whatcom County Health and Community Services, Compass Health, 
PeaceHealth and Whatcom Community College, Cascade Medical Advantage, Northwest Youth Services 
and Bellingham Public Schools. (Annette Bagley, Head of Community Relations) 
 
Banned Books Week is Sept. 22 – 28, 2024: In honor of this important topic, the Library will present 
“The Art of Community: Freedom of Thought and Democracy” on Tuesday, Sept. 24 at 2:30 – 4:00 p.m. in 
the Central Library Lecture Room. America is founded on the idea that a functional democracy requires 
informed citizens. Who decides what “informed” means? Should there be limits and, if so, under what 
circumstances? What should we do when there are differences in beliefs and values? Join your neighbors 
and share your thoughts as we engage and learn from one another. This event is the first of a three-part 
series that will continue on Tues., Oct. 8, and Tues., Oct. 22 in partnership with the Whatcom Dispute 
Resolution Center and the League of Women Voters. All are welcome to join in these lively discussion 
events. (Annette Bagley, Head of Community Relations) 
 
 

INFORM & INVOLVE 
 

Whatcom Water Week Collaboration with Public Works: To celebrate 
Whatcom Water Week, the Library is collaborating with Public Works to 
create a StoryWalk® on Taylor Dock and a second StoryWalk® at Cordata 
Park, September 14 - 22. To kick off the project, Children’s Librarian Ali 
Kubeny invited kids ages 3 to 8 and their grown-ups to meet at the Boulevard 
Park Play Structure at 10:30 a.m., Friday, Sept. 13, for a special walk and read-
aloud of the book to be featured at Taylor Dock, “1, 2, 3, Salish Sea,” by Nikki 
McClure. The StoryWalk® at Cordata Park will feature the book “Water is 
Water,” by Miranda Paul. (Bethany Hoglund, Deputy Library Director) 

 
Update on New Events Calendar System: We went live with the new events calendar, room reservation, 
and museum pass system on August 28, beating the cut-off for the old system by 4 days. On Sept. 9 we 
enabled patron self-registration for study rooms and the microfilm reader, moving those functions over 
from a different system. The public interface is looking nice, and staff are getting settled in to using the 
new back-end with very little trouble. (Jon McConnel, Head of Digital Services) 
 
 

THRIVE & GROW      

Central Library Renovation Update: With all the changes that have arisen since this project started, an 
updated project charter was needed to ensure that all stakeholders have the same understanding of the 
project objectives and timelines. The Executive Sponsors met to discuss, edit, and finalize the updated 
project charter in July/August. The Library will manage the objective of securing project funding and 
completing conceptual design work for the exterior between now and the end of this year. The first 
quarter of 2025 will be spent scoping the project to fit the funding available. After the Mayor and 
Executive Sponsors have determined the final scope of the project, with input from the Library Board of 
Trustees (by March 2025), we expect to begin the detailed design work and permitting for the 
project. This means that construction will likely start sometime in 2026. The Library Board-funded exterior 

79 



conceptual design work is anticipated to start in the next month. The contract for this work has been 
gathering the required ink signatures and should be completed soon. (Jen Vander Ploeg, Head of 
Operations) 
 
ILL Shipping Update: The project to update the City’s mailing and shipping technology is proceeding. 
Hardware has arrived at City Hall, though not everything was exactly what was ordered, and Finance is 
now working with the vendor to address the differences. We had a project meeting with the vendor in 
early September where we scheduled installation and training for Oct. 10. The library will then have a 
postage scale and dedicated printer with a new shipping computer in the Mendery for the interlibrary 
loans we send out through the US Mail. This will move a not-insignificant body of work from Finance to 
the Library Specialists working with ILL lending and borrowing. (Jon McConnel, Head of Digital Services) 
 
Unplanned Downtime: Overnight Aug. 24-25 there was a 4-hour access interruption to our hosted 
enterprise system, Polaris. Hosting provider, Clarivate’s Ex Libris division, provided a Root Cause Analysis 
that explained they were doing some planned maintenance on their internal network and a 
misconfiguration interrupted service. The interruption also brought down the secure connection between 
the City’s network and their network, which was addressed on the 26th. This led to the sorter, self-checks, 
and some aspects of the computer/printer access control system being offline for 38 hours. I will be 
exploring monitoring options with ITSD to see if we can set up something to alert us when that 
connection fails. (Jon McConnel, Head of Digital Services) 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Rebecca Judd 

80 


	2024-08-20 DRAFT Board minutes 2
	2024-09-17 Library Board Packet
	2024-09-17 Library Board Agenda
	Communications - Libraries are the Cornerstones of Our Communities
	Communications - Governors Letter Page 1
	Communications - Governor's Letter Page 2
	City progress report_ Downtown is trending up, officials have invested $1M, Cascadia Daily News (WA), August 29, 2024, p1
	Bellingham Central Library Renovations Phase 2 FACT SHEET
	2024-08-20 DRAFT Board minutes
	Attachment 1 2024 PRA and OPMA Training for Boards and Commissions
	Default Section
	Slide 1: 2024 Open Government Training for Boards and Commissions 
	Slide 2: This training: roadmap
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: outline
	Slide 5: the OPMA is one of Washington’s “Transparency Laws” or  “Sunshine Laws” 
	Slide 6: The OPMA –  starting point
	Slide 7: OPMA Policy
	Slide 8: OPMA Policy
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: What is a Governing Body?
	Slide 13: Meeting
	Slide 14: Meeting requires a  Collective Intent to Meet
	Slide 15: Action
	Slide 16: Final Action
	Slide 17: Public Attendance
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20: Public Comment
	Slide 21: Regular Meetings
	Slide 22: Regular Meetings – Small agency agenda exemption
	Slide 23: Special Meetings
	Slide 24: Emergency Special Meetings
	Slide 25: Remote emergency Meetings
	Slide 26
	Slide 27
	Slide 28: Travel and Gathering
	Slide 29
	Slide 30
	Slide 31: OPMA Penalties
	Slide 32: OPMA Training 
	Slide 33
	Slide 34: Municipal Research & Services Center
	Slide 35: OPMA: practical takeaways
	Slide 36: Public Records Act
	Slide 37: Why is compliance with the Public Records Act important? 
	Slide 38: Back to Basics: What’s a public record?
	Slide 39: Records can exist in any format, including…
	Slide 40: Note: Public Records include…
	Slide 41: E-mails
	Slide 42: City of Bellingham process for receiving and responding to public records requests
	Slide 43: Processing Public Records Requests
	Slide 44: If city staff ask you to provide records in response to a public records request:
	Slide 45: Searching for records
	Slide 46: Exemptions
	Slide 47: Non-compliance consequences
	Slide 48: PRA Takeaways…


	Attachment Rob's election handouts
	Attachment LWV handout from Rob
	Attachment nonpartison vote handout from Rob

	2024 Perf and activity measures for board
	08 2024 Board Claims
	08 2024 YTD for Board Packet
	2024-09 Director's report to the Board


